A.  ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

 The offender score was miscalculated. 

B.  ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

 When an offender is convicted of second degree assault, his 

prior juvenile convictions for nonviolent felonies count as only one-half 

point in the offender score.  Here, Ricky Lewis was convicted of 

second degree assault but the court counted his prior juvenile 

conviction for a nonviolent felony as one whole point in the offender 

score.  Was the offender score miscalculated? 

C.  STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 Ricky Lewis was charged in King County Superior Court with 

one count of second degree assault and two counts of unlawful 

imprisonment.  CP 65-66.  On May 30, 2014, he entered an Alford1 

plea to the three counts as charged, pursuant to a plea agreement with 

the State.  CP 67-91. 

 Mr. Lewis’s guilty plea statement says, “The prosecuting 

attorney’s statement of my criminal history is attached to this 

agreement.  Unless I have attached a different statement, I agree that 

the prosecuting attorney’s statement is correct and complete.”  CP 69. 

                                                           

 1
 North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S. Ct. 160, 27 L. Ed. 

2d 162 (1970). 
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 The plea agreement, incorporated into the guilty plea statement, 

also says:  

The defendant agrees to this Plea Agreement and that the 

attached sentencing guidelines scoring form(s) 

(Appendix A), offender score, and the attached 

Prosecutor’s Understanding of Defendant’s Criminal 

History (Appendix B) are accurate and complete and that 

the defendant was represented by counsel or waived 

counsel at the time of prior conviction(s). . . . 

 

CP 86. 

 Attached to the guilty plea statement is a document entitled 

“Prosecutor’s Understanding of Defendant’s Criminal History.”  CP 89.  

The document lists six prior convictions under the heading “Adult 

Felonies.”  CP 89.  One of those convictions is a February 9, 1976, 

conviction from Georgia for “theft by taking-auto theft.”  CP 89.   

 Contrary to the “Prosecutor’s Understanding of Defendant’s 

Criminal History,” Mr. Lewis’s Georgia conviction for “auto theft” is a 

juvenile and not an adult offense.  Mr. Lewis’s date of birth is March 

10, 1958.  CP 4, 67; 5/30/14RP 8.  Thus, the February 9, 1976, 

conviction for auto theft was obtained when Mr. Lewis was only 17 

years old. 

 Also attached to the guilty plea statement is a sentencing 

guidelines scoring form for second degree assault.  CP 87.  Using the 
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scoring form, the prosecutor counted Mr. Lewis’s prior juvenile 

conviction for auto theft as one whole point.  CP 87, 89.  The 

prosecutor calculated Mr. Lewis’s offender score for the second degree 

assault conviction as nine, which includes one whole point for the 

juvenile conviction.  CP 87. 

 At sentencing, the trial court adopted the State’s offender score 

calculation and determined the standard sentence range for the second 

degree assault conviction was 63 to 84 months, based on an offender 

score of nine.  CP 95.  The court imposed a high-end standard-range 

sentence of 84 months, to be served concurrently with the sentences for 

the two unlawful imprisonment convictions.  CP 97. 

D.  ARGUMENT 

The offender score was miscalculated, requiring that 

Mr. Lewis be resentenced based upon an offender 

score of eight for the second degree assault conviction 
 

1. The trial court miscalculated the offender score 

by counting Mr. Lewis’s prior nonviolent juvenile 

offense as one whole point 

 

 A trial court may impose a sentence only as authorized by 

statute.  In re Pers. Restraint of Carle, 93 Wn.2d 31, 33, 604 P.2d 1293 

(1980).  When a sentencing court acts without statutory authority in 
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imposing a sentence, the error may be raised for the first time on 

appeal.  State v. Ford, 137 Wn.2d 472, 477, 973 P.2d 452 (1999). 

 Under the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA), an offender’s 

“standard sentence range” is determined by the “seriousness” level of the 

present offense as well as the court’s calculation of the “offender score.”  

RCW 9.94A.530(1).  The offender score is determined by the offender’s 

“criminal history,” which is “the list of a defendant’s prior convictions 

and juvenile adjudications, whether in this state, in federal court, or 

elsewhere.”2  See RCW 9.94A.030(11); RCW 9.94A.525. 

 A trial court’s calculation of the offender score is reviewed de 

novo.  State v. Mutch, 171 Wn.2d 646, 653, 254 P.3d 803 (2011). 

 Here, Mr. Lewis was convicted of one count of second degree 

assault and two counts of unlawful imprisonment.  CP 94.  Second degree 

assault is a “violent offense” for purposes of the offender score.  RCW 

9.94A.030(54)(a)(viii).  When the trial court sentences an offender for a 

“violent offense,” the court “count[s] two points for each prior adult and 

juvenile violent felony conviction, one point for each prior adult 

                                                           

 
2
 When a person is sentenced for more than one current offense, 

the sentence range for each offense is calculated by treating the other 

current offenses as if they were prior convictions for purposes of 

calculating the offender score, unless the court finds they encompass the 

same criminal conduct.  RCW 9.94A.525(1), 9.94A.589(1)(a). 
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nonviolent felony conviction, and 1/2 point for each prior juvenile 

nonviolent felony conviction.”  RCW 9.94A.525(8). 

 Mr. Lewis’s criminal history consisted of six prior felony 

convictions.  CP 89.  As stated, one of those convictions was obtained 

when Mr. Lewis was only 17 years old.  CP 4, 67, 89; 5/30/14RP 8.  

That conviction, for “auto theft,” is for a nonviolent offense and should 

have counted as only one-half point in the offender score.  RCW 

9.94A.525(8). 

 The prosecutor asserted Mr. Lewis’s prior juvenile conviction 

for “auto theft” was an adult felony and counted as one whole point in 

the offender score for the second degree assault conviction.  CP 87, 89.  

The prosecutor asserted the offender score was nine, which included 

one whole point for the juvenile conviction.  CP 87, 89.  The trial court 

adopted the prosecutor’s representations and calculated Mr. Lewis’s 

offender score for the second degree assault conviction as nine.  CP 95. 

 In doing so, the trial court misapplied the sentencing statute and 

exceeded its authority.  The court should have counted the prior 

juvenile conviction as only one-half point in the offender score.  RCW 

9.94A.525(8).  “The offender score is the sum of points accrued under 

this section rounded down to the nearest whole number.”  RCW 



 6 

9.94A.525.  When Mr. Lewis’s juvenile conviction for “auto theft” is 

properly counted as one-half point, the offender score is eight and a 

half, not nine.  When rounded down to the nearest whole number, as 

required by RCW 9.94A.525, the total offender score is eight. 

 Because the trial court imposed a sentence based on an offender 

score of nine rather than eight, it exceeded its statutory authority.  

2. Because the error that occurred in the calculation 

of the offender score was a “legal” error 

resulting in a sentence in excess of statutory 

authority, Mr. Lewis may challenge the error 

notwithstanding his plea agreement with the State 

 

 It is well-established that a defendant cannot be held to the 

consequences of a plea agreement to an excessive sentence based upon 

an incorrect offender score.  In re Pers. Restraint of Goodwin, 146 

Wn.2d 861, 869, 60 P.3d 618 (2002).  That is because a sentence based 

upon an incorrect offender score is a fundamental defect that inherently 

results in a miscarriage of justice.  Id. at 868.  The Washington 

Supreme Court “has often reaffirmed the principle that a sentence in 

excess of statutory authority is subject to challenge, and the defendant 

is entitled to be resentenced.”  Id. at 869. 

 Generally a plea agreement is regarded and interpreted as a 

contract and the parties are bound by the terms of a valid plea 
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agreement.  State v. Codiga, 162 Wn.2d 912, 922, 175 P.3d 1082 

(2008).  But when a defendant’s criminal history is correct and 

complete yet the court miscalculates the resulting offender score, the 

defendant cannot be held to the consequences of the mistake.  Id. at 

929.  The defendant simply “cannot agree to punishment in excess of 

that which the Legislature has established” and cannot be held to the 

consequences of a plea agreement to an excessive sentence.  Goodwin, 

146 Wn.2d at 869, 873-74.  “[A] plea bargain cannot exceed the 

statutory authority of the courts.”  Id. at 871.   

 The defendant does not assume the risk of a legal error in the 

calculation of the offender score because it is ultimately the court’s 

obligation, not that of the parties, to determine the correct offender 

score and the applicable standard sentence range based upon the 

asserted criminal history.  Codiga, 162 Wn.2d at 926, 929.  “Although 

the prosecution may agree to sentencing recommendations, the 

sentencing court bears the ultimate responsibility to determine the 

correct offender score and sentencing range.”  State v. Malone, 138 

Wn. App. 587, 593, 157 P.3d 909 (2007). 

 Because a defendant cannot agree to be sentenced in excess of 

statutory authority, his decision to challenge a legal error in the 
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calculation of the offender score does not constitute a breach of a plea 

agreement.  Malone, 138 Wn. App. at 593-94. 

 A defendant who entered a plea agreement with the State may 

challenge his offender score calculation if the miscalculation was the 

result of a legal error and does not involve a factual dispute.  Courts 

distinguish between cases where a sentencing mistake is a factual one 

involving the defendant’s criminal history, and those where the 

defendant completely and correctly revealed his criminal history but the 

attorneys and the court made a legal mistake as to the resulting 

sentencing range.  Codiga, 162 Wn.2d at 926.  If the error is a legal one 

resulting in an excessive sentence, principles of waiver and invited 

error simply do not apply.  Goodwin, 146 Wn.2d at 874; In re Pers. 

Restraint of West, 154 Wn.2d 204, 214, 110 P.3d 1122 (2005). 

 In Goodwin, for instance, Goodwin entered an Alford plea as a 

result of a negotiated plea agreement and agreed that the prosecutor’s 

statement of his criminal history was correct and complete.  Id. at 863-

64.  But the trial court miscalculated the offender score by including a 

juvenile conviction that had actually washed out.  Id. at 866-67.  

Because the offender score was miscalculated as the result of a legal 

error, the plea agreement did not bind Goodwin to the unlawful 
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sentence.  Id. at 876-77.  “There [wa]s simply no question that 

Goodwin’s offender score was miscalculated,” and thus his sentence 

was in excess of statutory authority as a matter of law.  Id. at 875-76.  

Goodwin was entitled to be resentenced based upon a correct offender 

score.  Id. at 877-78; see also Malone, 138 Wn. App. at 593-94 

(offender score miscalculation resulting from inclusion of prior 

conviction that had actually washed out was legal error that could be 

challenged without breaching plea agreement). 

 Similarly, in State v. Wilson, Wilson pled guilty pursuant to a 

negotiated plea agreement and agreed with the prosecutor’s list of his 

criminal history.  State v. Wilson, 170 Wn.2d 682, 685, 244 P.3d 950 

(2010).  But the trial court miscalculated the offender score by 

classifying one of the prior convictions as a felony rather than a 

misdemeanor.  Id. at 688.  Because the error was a legal error, 

determined simply by reference to the controlling statute, Wilson did 

not waive his right to raise the challenge notwithstanding his plea 

agreement.  Id. at 689-90.  Wilson was entitled to be resentenced based 

upon a correct offender score.  Id. at 691. 

 Here, as in Goodwin, Wilson, and Malone, the error that 

occurred in the calculation of Mr. Lewis’s offender score is a legal 
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error that involves no factual dispute.  There is simply no question that 

Mr. Lewis’s prior Georgia conviction for “auto theft” was obtained 

when he was a juvenile.  CP 4, 67, 90; 5/30/14RP 8.  The trial court 

misapplied the sentencing statute by classifying the prior conviction as 

an adult offense rather than a juvenile offense and in counting it as one 

whole point in the offender score.  Thus, Mr. Lewis may challenge the 

miscalculation of his offender score notwithstanding his plea agreement 

with the State.  Wilson, 170 Wn.2d 689-90; Codiga, 162 Wn.2d at 929; 

Goodwin, 146 Wn.2d at 873-74.  His challenge to the erroneous 

offender score does not constitute a breach of the plea agreement.  

Malone, 138 Wn. App. at 593-94. 

3. The remedy is to resentence Mr. Lewis based 

upon a correct offender score 

 

 When a sentence is erroneous based upon a miscalculated 

offender score, the remedy is to remand for resentencing based upon a 

correct offender score.  Wilson, 170 Wn.2d at 691; Goodwin, 146 

Wn.2d at 869.  Resentencing does not “affect the finality of that portion 

of the judgment and sentence that was correct and valid when sentence 

was imposed.”  Goodwin, 146 Wn.2d at 869.  The judgment need not 

be vacated nor the plea agreement withdrawn; the error is grounds for 
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reversing only the erroneous portion of the sentence imposed.  West, 

154 Wn.2d at 215. 

 Thus, Mr. Lewis must be resentenced based upon a correct 

offender score.  Wilson, 170 Wn.2d at 691; Goodwin, 146 Wn.2d at 

869. 

F.  CONCLUSION 

 Because the court committed a legal error in calculating the 

offender score, Mr. Lewis must be resentenced based upon a correct 

offender score.