72332-4

72332-4

FILED Sep 16, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 72332-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

RICKY LEE LEWIS,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JUDGE HELEN HALPERT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> PHILIP SANCHEZ Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

A. ISSUE PRESENTED

Did Lewis, by agreeing to the correctness of the State's understanding of his criminal history, his offender score, and his standard sentence range, waive any challenge to the factual predicate for his sentence?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State alleged that Ricky Lee Lewis assaulted B.A.P. and unlawfully restrained her by striking her when she refused to engage in sexual intercourse and held her down to keep her from leaving his trailer. Lewis also restrained another woman, C.M.S. from leaving his trailer by striking her and forcibly engaging in sexual intercourse. CP 4-6. Lewis was charged by amended information in King County Superior Court with assault in the second degree and two counts of unlawful imprisonment against victims B.A.P. and C.M.S. CP 65-66.

Lewis pled guilty to the amended charges in exchange for the State's agreement to dismiss another filed felony case and the promise not to file additional charges related to yet another case involving a different victim. CP 67-80; RP 12. There was no dispute as to Lewis' criminal history, his offender score, or the

- 1 -

standard range. The "Statement of Defendant on Plea of Guilty" provides that the "...statement of my criminal history is attached to this agreement. Unless I have attached a different statement, I agree that the prosecuting attorney's statement is correct and complete." CP 69.

The sentencing court – relying on the scoring forms, appendix B and the felony plea agreement – calculated Lewis's offender score to be a "9" as to count I and an "8" as to counts II and III. CP 86-91. The State and Lewis jointly recommended a sentence of 84 months. CP 91. The trial court followed that recommendation. CP 94-102.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

LEWIS CANNOT RAISE A FACTUAL CHALLENGE TO HIS OFFENDER SCORE FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

Lewis argues that the trial court miscalculated his offender score by attributing a "point" to an out-of-state prior conviction committed when he was 17 years-old. Based on that fact alone he asserts that the conviction was a "juvenile offense" and should not have been given a whole "point" in calculating his offender score. Br. of App. at 5. He has waived this fact-based claim. Moreover, he provides neither documentation nor legal reasoning based on Georgia law to support his assertion that the prior conviction was a "juvenile" offense.

Under the SRA, a sentencing court is required to determine a defendant's offender score based on his or her prior convictions and the level of seriousness of the current offense. <u>State v. Wiley</u>, 124 Wn.2d 679, 682, 880 P.2d 983 (1994). A trial court's calculation of the offender score is reviewed de novo. <u>State v.</u> <u>Mutch</u>, 171 Wn.2d 646, 653, 254 P.3d 803 (2011). An illegal or erroneous sentence can be raised for the first time on appeal. <u>State v. Ford</u>, 137 Wn.2d 472, 477, 973 P.2d 472 (1999), *citing* <u>State v. Moen</u>, 129 Wn.2d 535, 543-48, 919 P.2d 69 (1996). However, a defendant waives an alleged sentencing error that involves an *agreement to facts*, later disputed. <u>In re Pers. Restraint</u> of Goodwin, 146 Wn.2d 861, 874, 50 P.3d 618 (2002).

Lewis's present challenge is to the factual predicate for his offender score; it is not a challenge to the way the score was *calculated*. When scoring a "violent offense," a prior adult nonviolent felony conviction is scored as a "point" and a juvenile

- 3 -

nonviolent felony offense is scored as a "1/2" point.¹ According to his "Appendix B," Mr. Lewis received three years "confinement" in Georgia for "theft by taking – auto theft."² CP 89. Whether Lewis's conviction occurred in adult or juvenile court is a question of fact that was not established in the trial court because Lewis agreed that the prosecutor's understanding of his criminal history was correct. By agreeing that the State's recitation of his prior criminal history was correct, and by agreeing to the offender score and standard range, Lewis agreed that the Georgia conviction was obtained in adult court.

"Legal error" like that found in <u>In re Pers. Restraint of</u> <u>Goodwin</u> and its progeny did not occur in this case. In <u>In re Pers.</u> <u>Restraint of Goodwin</u>, "legal error" occurred when the defendant's

¹ RCW 9.94A.525(8) states: "If the present conviction is for a violent offense and not covered in subsection (9), (10), (11), (12), or (13) of this section, count two points for each prior adult and juvenile violent felony conviction, one point for each prior adult nonviolent felony conviction, and 1/2 point for each prior juvenile nonviolent felony conviction.

² It seems highly probable that Lewis's factual concession in the trial court was appropriate. "Theft by Taking" is defined under Georgia Code § 16-8-2. Under Georgia Code § 16-8-12, a person convicted of violating this section shall be punished as a misdemeanor except when an enumerated set of circumstances are applicable; including the type of property, its value and whether a subsequent offense has occurred. If the property taken was at least \$5,000.00 in value but less than \$25,000 in value, imprisonment for not less than one year nor more than ten years would be imposed. Mr. Lewis' sentence falls within this range. Lewis has provided no authority suggesting he could have served three years of confinement under a juvenile adjudication for this offense in Georgia.

"washed out" prior juvenile convictions were erroneously included in the defendant's offender score. There was no dispute that the prior convictions existed, that they were handed down in juvenile court, and that they were obtained during a relevant time period. As a matter of law, because the prior convictions should not have been included in an offender score, the sentence was in excess of the court's statutory authority. <u>Id.</u> at 621, 874.

Similarly, in <u>State v. Ford</u>, 137 Wn.2d 472, 973 P.2d 472 (1999), the defendant did not dispute the existence of his prior outof-state convictions at sentencing, but he did challenge their inclusion in his offender score calculation, claiming that as a result of those convictions he had been civilly committed. <u>Id.</u> at 475. The State, however, orally asserted that the prior convictions were comparable to Washington law but did offer any court records, documentation or comparable Washington statutes. <u>Id.</u> at 476. Despite holding that Mr. Ford did not waive his challenge to the sentence, and that the State was under a burden to prove by a preponderance of the evidence the comparability of offenses, the court recognized that a sentencing court may rely upon unchallenged facts and information under the SRA. <u>Id.</u> at 482.

- 5 -

This holding is analogous to a comparability challenge after an affirmative acknowledgment by a defendant that prior out-ofstate or federal convictions are comparable. *See* <u>State v. Ross</u>, 152 Wn.2d 220, 232, 95 P.3d 1225 (2004); <u>State v. Nitsch</u>, 100 Wn. App. 512, 997 P.2d 1000 (2000). In <u>Nitsch</u>, the defendant claimed for the first time on appeal that the trial court should have found two prior convictions to be of the same criminal conduct. <u>Id.</u> at 518. However, because Nitsch affirmatively acknowledged his offender score in his pre-sentence report in addition to the "plea agreement," wavier was found. <u>Id.</u> at 522.

Much like <u>Nitsch</u>, Lewis' assertion requires a review of the underlying factual context of his prior out-of-state conviction. <u>Id.</u> at 524, 525. Mr. Lewis explicitly and affirmatively acknowledged the comparability and legal classification of his prior conviction as an adult felony offense. His repeated acknowledgment and agreement to the accuracy and completeness of the scoring forms, criminal history (Appendix B), offender score and comparability, relied upon by the parties and trial court establishes waiver as to his factual dispute.

- 6 -

D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The trial court properly determined Lewis's offender score based on agreed facts and circumstances surrounding the his prior criminal history, including his prior out-of-state conviction. Mr. Lewis affirmatively acknowledged the existence and circumstances of his prior conviction as an adult felony offense. Because Mr. Lewis' claim arises out of a factual dispute, no "legal error" occurred, so this claim may not be raised for the first time on appeal. The sentence did not exceed the court's authority.

DATED this 15 day of September, 2015.

Respectfully submitted,

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

mm.h

PHILIP SANCHEZ, WSBA #41242 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent Office WSBA #91002